

---

Theses

---

2019

Patient involvement in healthcare projects: A mixed method study on the perspectives of project staff in Western Australian (WA) public hospitals and health services

Melanie Wright

Follow this and additional works at: <https://researchonline.nd.edu.au/theses>

COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA  
Copyright Regulations 1969

WARNING

The material in this communication may be subject to copyright under the Act. Any further copying or communication of this material by you may be the subject of copyright protection under the Act.

Do not remove this notice.

---

Publication Details

Wright, M. (2019). Patient involvement in healthcare projects: A mixed method study on the perspectives of project staff in Western Australian (WA) public hospitals and health services (Master of Philosophy (School of Nursing)). University of Notre Dame Australia. <https://researchonline.nd.edu.au/theses/228>

This dissertation/thesis is brought to you by ResearchOnline@ND. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses by an authorized administrator of ResearchOnline@ND. For more information, please contact [researchonline@nd.edu.au](mailto:researchonline@nd.edu.au).



## REFERENCES

- ACSQHC. (2016). Retrieved from <https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au>
- Agency for Clinical Innovation (ACI). (2016). Innovation Exchange. Retrieved from <http://www.aci.health.nsw.gov.au/>
- American Society for Quality. (2016). The Define, Measure, Analyse, Improve, Control Process. Retrieved from <http://asq.org/>
- American Society for Quality. (2018). What is Six Sigma? Retrieved from <http://asq.org/>
- Ansari, W., & Andersson, E. (2011). Beyond value? measuring the costs and benefits of public participation. *Journal of Integrated Care*, 19(6), 45-57. doi:10.1108/14769011111191467
- Arnetz, J., Höglund, A., Arnetz, B., & Winblad, U. (2008). Staff Views and Behaviour Regarding Patient Involvement in Myocardial Infarction Care: Development and Evaluation of a Questionnaire. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 7(1), 27-35. Retrieved from <http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1016/j.ejcnurse.2007.05.006>. doi:10.1016/j.ejcnurse.2007.05.006
- Arnetz, J., Zhdanova, L., & Arnetz, B. (2016a). Patient Involvement : A New Source of Stress in Health Care Work. *Health Communication*, 31(12), 1566-1572. doi:10.1080/10410236.2015.1052872
- Arnetz, J., Zhdanova, L., & Arnetz, B. (2016b). Patient Involvement : A New Source of Stress in Health Care Work? *Health Communication*, 31(12), 1566-1572. doi:10.1080/10410236.2015.1052872
- Artino, A., LaRochelle, J., Dezee, K., & Gehlbach, H. (2014). Developing questionnaires for educational research : AMEE Guide No.87. *Medical Teacher*, 36(6). Retrieved from <http://www.tandfonline-com.smhslibresources.health.wa.gov.au/doi/citedby/10.3109/0>.
- Athifa, M., Finn, J., Brearley, L., Williams, T., Hay, B., Laurie, K., . . . Leslie, G. (2010). A qualitative exploration of nurse's perception of Critical Outreach Service: A before and after study. *Australian College of Critical Care Nurses*. doi:10.1016/j.aucc.2010.09.001
- Austin Health. (2013). *Consumer Engagement Plan 2013 - 2017*. Retrieved from [www.austin.org.au](http://www.austin.org.au)
- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. (2010). *Australian Safety and Quality Framework for Health Care*. Retrieved from <https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au>
- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. (2011). *Patient-centred care: Improving quality and safety through partnerships with patients and consumers*. Retrieved from <http://www.safetyandquality.gov.au>
- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. (2012a). National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards. Retrieved from <https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au>
- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. (2012b). *Safety and Quality Improvement Guide Standard 2 : Partnering with Consumers*. Retrieved from <http://www.safetyandquality.gov.au>

- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. (2014). *Australian Charter of Healthcare Rights*. Retrieved from <https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au>
- Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care. (2018). *Creating Safer, Better Health Care. The impact of the National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards*. Retrieved from <https://www.safetyandquality.gov.au/>
- Australian Government. (2005). *Stakeholder Engagement Framework*. Retrieved from <http://www.health.gov.au>
- Barber, R., Boote, J., Parry, G., Cooper, C., Yeeles, P., & Cook, S. (2012). Can the impact of public involvement on research be evaluated? A mixed methods study. *Health Expectations*, 15(3), 229-241. Retrieved from <http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1369-7625.2010.00660.x>. doi:10.1111/j.1369-7625.2010.00660.x
- Blomqvist, K., Theander, E., Mowide, I., & Larsson, V. (2010). What happens when you involve patients as experts? a participatory action research project at a renal failure unit. *Nursing Inquiry*, 17(4), 317-323. Retrieved from <http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1800.2010.00513.x>. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1800.2010.00513.x
- Braun, V., & Clarke, C. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. Retrieved from <http://www.tandfonline.com.ipacez.nd.edu.au>. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brett, J., Staniszewska, S., Mockford, C., Herron-Marx, S., Hughes, J., Tysall, C., & Suleman, R. (2014). Mapping the impact of patient and public involvement on health and social care research: a systematic review. *Health Expectations*, 17(5), 637-650. Retrieved from <http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1369-7625.2012.00795.x>. doi:10.1111/j.1369-7625.2012.00795.x
- Cambridge University Press. (2018). Definition of synthesis. Retrieved from <https://dictionary.cambridge.org/>
- Cancer Australia and Cancer Voices Australia. (2011). *National Framework for Consumer Involvement in Cancer Control*. Retrieved from <https://canceraustralia.gov.au/>
- Clinical Excellence Commission. (2018). Patient stories. Retrieved from <http://www.cec.health.nsw.gov.au/>
- Collier, A., Morgan, D., Swetenham, K., To, T., Currow, D., & Tieman, J. (2016). Implementation of a pilot telehealth programme in community palliative care: A qualitative study of clinicians' perspectives. *Palliative Medicine*, 30(4), 409-417. Retrieved from <http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0269216315600113>.
- Consumer & Community Health Research Network. (2018). Involving people in research. Retrieved from <https://www.involvingpeopleinresearch.org.au/>
- Consumers Health Forum of Australia. (2015). *"Unique and essential": a review of the role of consumer representatives in health decision-making*. Retrieved from <https://chf.org.au/>:
- Cook, N., & Miller, K. (2012). How patient perspectives can help improve service design. Retrieved from <http://www.hsj.co.uk>
- Crawford, M. J., Rutter, D., Manley, C., Weaver, T., Bhui, K., Fulop, N., & Tyrer, P. (2002). Systematic review of involving patients in the planning and development of health care. *BMJ*, 325(7375), 1263. Retrieved from

- <http://www.bmj.com/content/bmj/325/7375/1263.full.pdf>  
doi:10.1136/bmj.325.7375.1263
- Creswell, J. (2013). *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design : Choosing among 5 approaches* (3rd ed.). USA: SAGE Publications Limited.
- Creswell, J. (2014). *Research Design : Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Methods approaches* (4th ed.). USA: SAGE Publications Limited.
- Department of Health. (2005). *Stakeholder Engagement Framework*. Australian Government Retrieved from <http://www.health.gov.au>
- Department of Health. (2013). *WA Health Clinical Services Redesign Handbook : A Training Guide*. Perth: Health System Improvement Unit, Department of Health, Western Australia.
- Department of Health. (2014). *Consumer, Carer and Community Partnership Framework*. Fiona Stanley Hospital
- Department of Health. (2016a). *Institute for Health Leadership*. WA Retrieved from <http://sir.hdwa.health.wa.gov.au>
- Department of Health. (2016b). *You Matter: engaging with consumers, carers, community and clinicians in health*. Perth : Western Australia
- Department of Health. (2017a). Health Networks. Retrieved from <http://www.healthnetworks.health.wa.gov.au>
- Department of Health. (2017b). *You Matter: A Guideline to support engagement with consumers, carers, communities and clinicians in health*. Perth, WA Retrieved from <https://ww2.health.wa.gov.au/>
- Department of Health. (2018a). Consumer Advisory Councils at SMHS. Retrieved from <http://ww2.health.wa.gov.au/>
- Department of Health. (2018b). Improving health in WA : Infrastructure. Retrieved from <http://ww2.health.wa.gov.au/>
- Department of Health. (2018c). *Patient experience at South Metropolitan Health Service*. Retrieved from <https://ww2.health.wa.gov.au/About-us/South-Metropolitan-Health-Service>
- Department of Health. (2018d). Research Governance Service (RGS). Retrieved from <https://rgs.health.wa.gov.au/>
- East Metropolitan Health Service. (2017). *EMHS Staff Engagement Survey : 2017 Survey Results*. Retrieved from <http://ww2.health.wa.gov.au/>
- Fairbrother, P., McCloughan, L., Adam, G., Brand, R., Brown, C., Watson, M., . . . McKinstry, B. (2013). Involving patients in clinical research : the Telscot Patient Panel. *Health Expectations*, 19, 691-701. Retrieved from <http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/hex.12132/epdf>.
- Fereday, S., & Rezel, K. (2016). *Patient and public involvement in quality improvement*. Retrieved from Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership Ltd:
- Fincham, J. (2008). Response Rates and Responsiveness for Surveys, Standards, and the Journal. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 72(2), 1-3. Retrieved from <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2384218/pdf/ajpe43.pdf>.
- Fisher, B. (2011). Briefing Guide : Effective Patient and Public Involvement. In: Royal College of General Practitioners, Centre for Commissioning.
- Ford, A., & Bowness, V. (2012). *Changing the face of PPI : Organisational Culture and perceptions of public involvement*. Retrieved from <http://www.netscc.ac.uk>

- Forum, N. Q. (2018). NQF Statement on PCORI-funded Effort to Amplify Patient Involvement in Healthcare Quality Improvement. Retrieved from <http://www.qualityforum.org>
- Frels, R., & Onwuegbuzie, A. (2013). Administering Quantitative Instruments With Qualitative Interviews : a Mixed Research Approach. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 91(2), 184-194. Retrieved from <http://search.proquest.com/docview/1330852078?accountid=33906>.
- Garfield, S., Jheeta, S., Jacklin, A., Bischler, A., Norton, C., & Franklin, B. (2015). Patient and public involvement in data collection for health services research: A descriptive study. *Research Involvement and Engagement*. Retrieved from <http://researchinvolvement.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s40900-015-0006-7>. doi:10.1186/s40900-015-0006-7
- Gillard, S., Simons, L., Turner, K., Lucock, M., & Edwards, C. (2012). Patient and Public Involvement in the Coproduction of Knowledge: Reflection on the Analysis of Qualitative Data in a Mental Health Study. *Qualitative Health Research*, 22(8), 1126-1137. Retrieved from <http://qhr.sagepub.com/content/22/8/1126.abstract>. doi:10.1177/1049732312448541
- Government of Western Australia. (2016). Department of Health. Retrieved from <http://ww2.health.wa.gov.au>
- Greenwood, M., & Terry, K. (2012). Demystifying mixed methods research : Participation in a reading group 'sign posts' the way. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, 6(2), 98-108.
- Grimshaw, J., Eccles, M., Lavis, J., Hill, S., & Squires, J. (2012). Knowledge translation of research findings. *Implementation Science*, 7(50), 1-17. Retrieved from <http://www.implementationscience.com/content/7/1/50>. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-7-50
- Hakim, H. (2014). Not just for cars : Lean methodology. *Nursing Management*, 45(3), 39-43. doi:10.1097/01.NUMA.0000443942.06621.6e
- Harris, J., Graue, M., Dunning, T., Haltbakk, J., Austrheim, G., Skille, N., . . . Kirkevold, M. (2015). Involving people with diabetes and the wider community in diabetes research : a realist review protocol. *Systematic Reviews*, 4(146), 1-7. doi:10.1186/s13643-015-0127-y
- Heale, R., & Forbes, D. (2013). Understanding triangulation in research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 16(4), 98. Retrieved from <http://ebn.bmj.com.ipacez.nd.edu.au/content/16/4/98.full.pdf+html>. doi:10.1136/eb-2013-101494
- Health Consumers Council. (2017). Creating Positive Change. Retrieved from <http://www.hconc.org.au>
- Health Quality Ontario. (2018). Patient partnering. Retrieved from <http://www.hqontario.ca/>
- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Shaw, D., & Casey, D. (2015). Qualitative case study data analysis: an example from practice. *Nurse researcher*, 22(5), 8-12. Retrieved from <http://journals.rcni.com.ipacez.nd.edu.au/doi/10.7748/nr.22.5.8.e1307>.
- Hung, S., Wang, P., Lin, H., Chen, H., & Su, C. (2015). Integration of Value Stream Map and Healthcare Failure Mode and Effect Analysis into Six Sigma Methodology to Improve Process of Surgical Specimen Handling. *Journal of Healthcare Engineering*, 6(3), 377-398. doi:10.1260/2040-2295.6.3.377
- IBM Analytics. (2016). IBM SPSS Software. Retrieved from <http://www.ibm.com>

- Institute for Healthcare Improvement. (2018). Improving Health and Health Care Worldwide. Retrieved from <http://www.ihl.org>
- K Carman, P Dardess, M Maurer, S Sofaer, K Adams, C Bechtel, & J Sweeney. (2013). Patient And Family Engagement: A Framework For Understanding The Elements And Developing Interventions And Policies *Health Affairs*, 32(2), 223-231. Retrieved from <http://content.healthaffairs.org>. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2012.1133
- Kassab, M., Lee, J., Mazzara, M., Succi, G., & Tumyrkin, R. (2016). *Software Quality - Traditional vs Agile : an Empirical Investigation*. Retrieved from [www.researchgate.net/](http://www.researchgate.net/)
- Kingston Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. (2013). *Patient and Public Involvement Strategy 2013-2015*.
- Krueger, R. (2006). Analyzing Focus Group Interviews. *Journal of wound,ostomy,and continence nursing*, 33(5), 478-481. doi:10.1097/00152192-200609000-00004
- Lean Enterprise Institute Inc. (2000-2019). WHAT IS LEAN? Retrieved from <https://www.lean.org/>
- Lewis, A. (2014). Patient involvement. *Private Hospital*. Retrieved from <https://www.apha.org.au/private-hospitals-magazine-2/?magazine=5067>
- Liamputtong, P. (2013). *Research methods in health : foundations for evidence-based practice*. (2nd ed.): Oxford University Press.
- Littlechild, R., & Staley, K. (2015). Is it worth doing?? measuring the impact of patient and public involvement in research. *Research Involvement and Engagement*. Retrieved from <http://researchinvolvement.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s40900-015-0008-5>. doi:10.1186/s40900-015-0008-5
- Locock, L., Robert, G., Boaz, A., Vougioukalou, S., Shuldham, C., Fielden, J., . . . Pearcey, J. (2014). Testing accelerated experience-based co-design: a qualitative study of using a national archive of patient experience narrative interviews to promote rapid patient-centred service improvement. *Health Serv Deliv Res*, 2(4). Retrieved from <http://journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr/hsdr02040>. doi:10.3310/hsdr02040
- Lord, L., & Gale, N. (2014). Subjective experience or objective process: understanding the gap between values and practice for involving patients in designing patient-centred care. *Journal of health organization and management*, 28(6), 714-730. doi:10.1108/JHOM-08-2013-0160
- Manafó, E., Petermann, I., Mason-Lai, P., & Vandall-Walker, V. (2018). Patient engagement in Canada: a scoping review of the 'how' and 'what' of patient engagement in health research. *Health Research Policy and Systems*, 16(5), 1-11. doi:10.1186/s12961-018-0282-4
- Marston, C., & Renedo, A. (2013). Understanding and measuring the effects of patient and public involvement: an ethnographic study. *The Lancet*, 382, Supplement 3, S69. Retrieved from <http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0140673613624940>. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62494-0
- Masso, M., Robert, G., McCarthy, G., & Eager, K. (2010). The Clinical Services Redesign Program in New South Wales: perceptions of senior health managers. *Australian Health Review*, 34(3), 352-359.
- Matthews, R., Wilson, S., Valentine, J., & Nota, J. (2010). Involving patients in service improvement. *Nursing Management - UK*, 16(10), 16-19.

- McKenzie, A., Bulsara, C., Haines, H., Hanley, B., & Alpers, K. (2016). *Barriers to community involvement in health and medical research - Researchers perspectives on consumer and community involvement in research: a qualitative study*. Retrieved from [www.involvingpeopleinresearch.org.au](http://www.involvingpeopleinresearch.org.au)
- Mende, S., & Roseman, D. (2013). The aligning forces for quality experience: Lessons on getting consumers involved in health care improvements. *Health Affairs*, 32(6), 1092-1100. Retrieved from <http://search.proquest.com/docview/1372932100?accountid=33906>.
- Micallef, J., & Straw, B. (2014). Developing junior doctors as leaders of service improvement. *Leadership in Health Services*, 27(4), 316-329. Retrieved from <http://search.proquest.com/docview/1635067606?accountid=33906>.
- Microsoft. (2018). Microsoft Office. Retrieved from <https://www.microsoft.com/>
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: an expanded sourcebook* (Vol. 2nd). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Miller, A., Patton, S., Dobrow, M., Marshall, D., & Whitney, B. (2018). Public involvement and health research system governance: a qualitative study. *Health Research Policy and Systems*, 16(87), 1-15. doi:10.1186/s12961-018-0361-6
- Mockford, C., Staniszewska, S., Griffiths, F., & Herron-Marx, S. (2012). The impact of patient and public involvement on UK NHS health care : a systematic review. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 24(1), 28-38.
- Moule, P., Evans, D., & Pollard, K. (2013). Using the Plan-Do-Study-Act model: Pacesetters experiences. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance*, 26(7), 593-600. doi:10.1108/IJHCQA-09-2011-0053
- Mullins, C., Abdulhalim, A., & Lavalee, D. (2012). Continuous Patient Engagement in Comparative Effectiveness Research. *JAMA*, 307(15), 1587-1588. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.442
- Murray, A. (2013). *Managing Successful Projects with PRINCE2*. Australia: Griffin Press.
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. (2017). Patient experience in adult NHS services,. Retrieved from <https://www.nice.org.uk>
- National Institute for Health Research. (2014a). Evidence Bibliography 5. Retrieved from <http://www.invo.org.uk>
- National Institute for Health Research. (2014b). *Senior Investigators : Leaders for patient and public involvement in research*. Retrieved from INVOLVE: <http://www.invo.org.uk>
- National Institute for Health Research. (2016). INVOLVE. Retrieved from <http://www.invo.org.uk/>
- NHMRC. (2007). *Australian Code for the Responsible Conduct of Research*. National Health and Medical Research Council Retrieved from <http://www.nhmrc.gov.au>
- NHMRC. (2015). *National Statement on Ethical Conduct in Human Research*. National Health and Medical Research Council Retrieved from <http://www.nhmrc.gov.au>
- NHMRC. (2016). *Statement on Consumer and Community involvement in Health and Medical Research*. Retrieved from <https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/>
- Norman, K. (2012). Leading service improvement in changing times. *British Journal of Community Nursing*, 17(4), 162-167.
- O'Leary, Z. (2014). *The Essential Guide to Doing Your Research Project* (Second ed.). London: SAGE.

- Oppenheimer, A., Pannucci, C., Kasten, S., & Haase, S. (2011). Survey Says? A Primer on Web-Based Survey Design and Distribution. *Plastic & Reconstructive Surgery*, 128(1), 299-304.
- Oxford English Dictionary. (2016). Definition of perspectives. Retrieved from <https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/>
- Pallant, J. (2013). *SPSS Survival Manual : A step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS* (5th ed.). Australia: Allen & Unwin.
- Pearson, D. (2012). *Consumer Participation in the Health System*. Retrieved from <http://www.audit.vic.gov.au>
- Pizzo, E., Doyle, C., Matthews, R., & Barlow, J. (2014). Patient and public involvement : how much do we spend and what are the benefits? *Health Expectations*(18), 1918-1926.
- Polit, D., & Tatano Beck, C. (2014). *Essentials of Nursing Research.Appraising Evidence for Nursing Practice*. ( 8 ed.): Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Pomey, M., Hihat, H., Khalifa, M., Lebel, P., & Neron, A. (2015). Patient partnership in quality improvement of healthcare services : Patients' inputs and challenges faced. *Patient Experience Journal*, 2(1). Retrieved from <http://pxjournal.org/journal/vol2/iss1/6/>.
- Popay , J., & Collins ,M ,. (2014). *The Public Involvement Impact Assessment Framework Guidance*. Retrieved from <http://piiaf.org.uk>:
- Preacher, K. J. (2001). Calculation for the chi-square test: An interactive calculation tool for chi-square tests of goodness of fit and independence [Computer software]. Retrieved from <http://quantpsy.org>.
- Press Ganey. (2018). *Patient Experience*. Retrieved from <http://www.pressganey.com/solutions/patient-experience>
- Project Management Institute Inc. (2017a). Project Management Body Of Knowledge : Guide and Standards. Retrieved from <https://www.pmi.org/>
- Project Management Institute Inc. (2017b). What is Project Management ? Retrieved from <https://www.pmi.org/>
- Public Involvement Impact Assessment Framework. (2013). *Summary of Findings from a review on values and public involvement in research*. Retrieved from <http://piiaf.org.uk>:
- Punch, K. (2014). *Introduction to Social Research : Quantitative & Qualitative Approaches*. London: SAGE.
- Punch, K. (2016). *Developing Effective Research proposals* (3rd ed.). London: SAGE
- QSR International. (2016). What is NVivo? Retrieved from <http://www.qsrinternational.com>
- Qualtrics. (2016). 7 Tips for Writing Surveys. Retrieved from <http://get.qualtrics.com>
- Qualtrics. (2017). Retrieved from <https://www.qualtrics.com/au/>
- Rabiee, F. (2004). Focus-group interview and data analysis. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 63(4), 655-660. doi:10.1079/PNS2004399
- Raman, S., Horton, K., & Fishman, E. (2015). Introduction to rethinking the patient experience. *J Am Coll Radiol*, 12(1), 16. Retrieved from <http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25557566>. doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2014.07.004
- Rea, L., & Parker, R. (2014). Designing and conducting survey research : a comprehensive guide. In (Vol. 4th Edition, pp. 196). Retrieved from <https://books.google.com.au>



- Redmond, R., & Curtis, E. (2009). Focus groups: principles and process. *Nurse researcher*, 16(3), 57-69. doi:10.7748/nr2009.04.16.3.57.c6946
- Roberts, D., Marion, G., Coughlin, S., & Brooks, P. (2016). Health reimagined: a new participatory health paradigm. Retrieved from <http://www.ey.com>
- Robinson, A. (2014). Patient and public involvement: in theory and in practice. *The Journal of Laryngology and Otology*, 128(4), 318-325. doi:10.1017/S0022215114000735
- Rodne, T., & Daly, A. (2007). *Measuring patient satisfaction in Western Australia, overview of 2005-2006 Survey Results*. Retrieved from Western Australia: <http://ww2.health.wa.gov.au>
- Sarrami-Foroushani, P., Travaglia, J., Eikli, M., & Braithwaite, J. (2012). *Consumer and Community Engagement : A review of the literature*. Retrieved from Agency for Clinical Innovation: <http://www.aci.health.nsw.gov.au>
- Schatz, E. (2012). Rationale and procedures for nesting semi-structured interviews in surveys or censuses. *Population studies*, 66(2), 183-195. doi:10.1080/00324728.2012.658851
- Schwalbe, K. (2013). An Introduction to Healthcare Project Management. Retrieved from <https://kathyschwalbe.files.wordpress.com/>
- Segal, L., & Bolton, T. (2009). Issues facing the future health care workforce: the importance of demand modelling. *Australia and New Zealand Health Policy*, 6(12). Retrieved from <https://anzhealthpolicy.biomedcentral.com/>. doi:10.1186/1743-8462-6-12
- Shippee, N. D., Domecq Garces, J. P., Prutsky Lopez, G. J., Wang, Z., Elraiayah, T. A., Nabhan, M., . . . Murad, M. H. (2013). Patient and service user engagement in research: a systematic review and synthesized framework. *Health Expectations*, 18(5), 1151-1166. Retrieved from <http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/hex.12090>.
- Sinkowitz-Cochran, R. (2013). Survey Design: To Ask or Not to Ask? That is the Question.... *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. Retrieved from <http://cid.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/2013/01/11/cid.cit005.abstract>. doi:10.1093/cid/cit005
- Smyth, R. (2004). Exploring the usefulness of a conceptual framework as a research tool: A researcher's reflections. *Issues In Educational Research*, 14(2), 167-180. Retrieved from <http://iier.org.au/>.
- South Metropolitan Health Service. (2016). *Standard Operating Procedures for the approval of research within SMHS*. SMHS Intranet
- Staniszewska, S., Brett, J., Mockford, C., & Barber, R. (2011). The GRIPP checklist: Strengthening the quality of patient and public involvement reporting in research. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care*(4), 391-399. doi:10.1017/S0266462311000481
- Staniszewska, S., Brett, J., Simera, I., Seers, K., Mockford, C., Goodlad, S., . . . Tysall, C. (2017). GRIPP2 reporting checklists: tools to improve reporting of patient and public involvement in research. *British Medical Journal*, 3453, 1-7. Retrieved from <https://www.bmj.com/content/358/bmj.j3453>. doi:org/10.1136/bmj.j3453
- Survey Monkey. (2016). Survey Monkey. Retrieved from <https://www.surveymonkey.com/>
- Taskforce, H. R. I. (2008). *Patient Stories. A toolkit for collecting and using patient stories for service improvement in WA Health*. In. Perth: Department of Health.

- The Australian Council on Healthcare Standards. (2018). What is accreditation?  
Retrieved from <https://www.achs.org.au/>
- The University of Notre Dame. (2007). *Policy : Code of Conduct for Research*.  
Retrieved from <https://www.notredame.edu.au>
- Thompson, J., Bissell, P., Cooper, C., Armitage, C., & Barber, R. (2014). Exploring the Impact of Patient and Public Involvement in a Cancer Research Setting. *Qualitative Health Research*, 21(1), 46-54. Retrieved from <http://qhr.sagepub.com.ipacez.nd.edu.au/content/24/1/46.full.pdf+html>.  
doi:10.1177/1049732313514482
- Todd, A., & Nutbeam, D. (2018). Involving consumers in health research: what do consumers say? *Public Health Research & Practice*, 28(2), 1-6. Retrieved from <http://www.phrp.com.au/>.
- Tritter, J. (2009). Revolution or evolution : the challenges of conceptualizing patient and public involvement in a consumerist world. *Health Expectations*(12), 275-287. Retrieved from <http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1369-7625.2009.00564.x/epdf>.
- Tsianakas, V., Robert, G., Maben, J., Richardson, A., Dale, C., & Wiseman, T. (2012). Implementing patient-centred cancer care: using experience-based co-design to improve patient experience in breast and lung cancer services. *Support Care Cancer*, 20, 2639-2647. doi:10.1007/s00520-012-1470-3
- Van Duijn, H., Ferwerda, M., Tomas, M., van Middendorp, H., Ros, H., & Evers, A. (2013). OP0263-PARE Patient Involvement in E-Health Research and Intervention Development. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 72(Suppl 3), A142.
- Van Griensven, H., Moore, A., & Hall, V. (2014). Mixed methods research - The best of both worlds? *Manual Therapy*, 19(5), 367-371.
- WA Health Translation Network. (2018). Research Education & Training Program.  
Retrieved from <https://www.wahtn.org/>
- Workplace Gender Equality Agency. (2016). *Gender composition of the workforce : by industry*. Retrieved from [www.wgea.gov.au](http://www.wgea.gov.au)
- World Health Organization. (2008). *Gender and health workforce statistics*. Retrieved from [www.who.int](http://www.who.int)
- World Health Organization. (2013). Patient engagement. Retrieved from <http://www.who.int>
- Wutzke, S., Benton, M., & Verma, R. (2016). Towards the implementation of large scale innovations in complex health care systems : views of managers and frontline personnel. *Bio Med Central Research Notes*, 1-5.  
doi:10.1186/s13104-016-2133-0